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i 

 
QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 
 Petitioner, Kenneth Jason Ragsdell, was em-
ployed by Respondent Regional Housing Alliance of 
La Plata County, a governmental housing agency. 
Respondent Jennifer Lopez, Mr. Ragsdell’s supervisor, 
discriminated against Mr. Ragsdell because of his 
disability by treating him differently than similarly 
situated non-disabled employees. Mr. Ragsdell as-
serts a claim, among others, against Ms. Lopez for 
violations of his right to equal protection of the laws 
pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 
States Constitution.  

 The questions presented are: 

 1. Whether the Equal Protection Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Consti-
tution protects individuals with disabilities from 
irrational discrimination, as many circuit courts have 
held but contrary to the Tenth Circuit’s opinion in 
this case.  

 2. Whether the Tenth Circuit erred by granting 
qualified immunity to Respondent Jennifer Lopez 
based upon the erroneous premise that the right to be 
free from irrational disability discrimination in public 
employment is not clearly established.  
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

 
 Petitioner, Kenneth Jason Ragsdell, a former 
employee of Respondent Regional Housing Alliance of 
La Plata County, was the plaintiff-appellee in the 
court below. Respondent Jennifer Lopez was his 
supervisor. Another defendant, La Plata Homes 
Fund, Inc., was dismissed in the district court at the 
summary judgment stage. Respondents Regional 
Housing Alliance of La Plata County and Jennifer 
Lopez, both of which are state actors, were the de-
fendant-appellants in the court below.  
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PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

 Petitioner Kenneth Jason Ragsdell respectfully 
petitions this Court for a writ of certiorari to review 
the judgment of the United States Court of Appeals 
for the Tenth Circuit in this case.  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinion of the Tenth Circuit is unpublished 
and is reproduced in the appendix hereto (“App”) at 
App. 1-10. The Tenth Circuit’s Order denying Mr. 
Ragsdell’s petition for rehearing is reproduced at App. 
45.  

 The opinion of the United States District Court 
for the District of Colorado granting in part and 
denying in part the defendants’ motions for summary 
judgment is unreported and is reproduced at App. 11-
44. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

JURISDICTION 

 The judgment of the Tenth Circuit was entered 
on January 16, 2015. App. 1. The Tenth Circuit 
denied a timely petition for rehearing en banc on 
February 11, 2015. App. 45. The jurisdiction of the 
Tenth Circuit was based on 28 U.S.C. § 1291. The 
jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1254(1).  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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CONSTITUTIONAL AND 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution provides, in pertinent part, “No state 
shall . . . deny to any person within its jurisdiction 
the equal protection of the laws.” 

 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides in relevant part:  

Every person who, under color of any statute 
. . . subjects, or causes to be subjected, any 
citizen of the United States . . . the depriva-
tion of any rights, privileges, or immunities 
secured by the Constitution and laws, shall 
be liable to the party injured in an action at 
law. . . . 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Kenneth Jason Ragsdell was successfully em-
ployed at the Regional Housing Alliance of La Plata 
County (“RHA”), a governmental housing agency 
based in Durango, Colorado, beginning in February 
2010. Just days after a successful one-year perfor-
mance review and a ten-percent raise, Mr. Ragsdell 
informed his supervisor, RHA Executive Director 
Jennifer Lopez, that he would require more frequent 
medical visits to Denver to treat his multiple sclero-
sis. From that moment on, Ms. Lopez treated Mr. 
Ragsdell less favorably than the other RHA employ-
ees: she arbitrarily and unreasonably increased Mr.  
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Ragsdell’s workload, set unreasonable and contradic-
tory expectations and deadlines for him, and bar-
raged him with baseless criticisms. By late April 
2011, Ms. Lopez’s undue scrutiny of Mr. Ragsdell had 
become nonstop. Her latest order was for Mr. 
Ragsdell, who walked with a cane, to physically move 
the RHA’s entire file set between offices. When he 
(predictably) encountered difficulty doing so, Ms. 
Lopez refused him assistance that would have been 
provided to any non-disabled employee, and eventual-
ly sent him three disciplinary memoranda in a single 
evening.  

 Mr. Ragsdell recognized this behavior. He had 
observed Ms. Lopez employ the same discriminatory 
treatment against his former coworker Tracy Akers. 
Ms. Akers was also disabled, having been diagnosed 
with Crohn’s Disease the previous summer. After her 
disability diagnosis, she suffered similar less favora-
ble treatment from Ms. Lopez, as compared to her 
RHA coworkers. Ultimately, Ms. Lopez terminated 
Ms. Aker’s employment. Fearing the same fate and 
seeing the adverse treatment of him intensifying, Mr. 
Ragsdell was left with no other choice but to resign 
from RHA.  

 As relevant here, Mr. Ragsdell brought a claim 
against Ms. Lopez pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 
the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
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Amendment,1 alleging that she discriminated against 
him on the basis of his disability. Ms. Lopez claimed 
qualified immunity and moved for summary judg-
ment.  

 The district court declined to award summary 
judgment, concluding that the law prohibiting dis-
crimination by a public employer against a disabled 
employee was clearly established, and that the record 
contains genuine disputes of material facts as to 
whether there was a rational basis for such discrimi-
nation in this case. App. 42-43. In its succinct analy-
sis of the issue, the district court noted:  

There are genuine disputes of material fact 
that preclude summary judgment on these 
two claims. By way of one (of many) ex-
amples, I am troubled by the conflicting tes-
timony regarding whether Mr. Ragsdell 
received appropriate accommodation in phys-
ically moving paper files. He appears ulti-
mately to have received assistance from Ms. 
Linney, but it is not at all clear why he was 
initially denied assistance by Ms. Lopez. 

App. 43.  

 
 1 RHA did not employ enough employees to be covered by 
the Americans with Disabilities Act. See 42 U.S.C. § 12111(5)(A) 
(defining “employer” as “a person engaged in an industry 
affecting commerce who has 15 or more employees for each 
working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current 
or preceding calendar year”).  
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 Ms. Lopez filed an interlocutory appeal on the 
matter of qualified immunity. The Tenth Circuit 
reversed the district court. The panel began its analy-
sis of the issue by stating, “Under the precedents in 
the Supreme Court and our court, there is no clearly 
established constitutional protection against em-
ployment discrimination on the basis of a disability.” 
App. 2. The panel then proceeded to answer a different 
question, “whether the law was clearly established 
when Ms. Lopez allegedly failed to accommodate Mr. 
Ragsdell for his disability.” App. 3. It asserted the 
district court “identified only one factual disagree-
ment,” and stated in a footnote, “[T]he district court 
added that many examples existed.” App. 3. Within 
that framework, the panel reversed the district 
court’s decision, holding that Ms. Lopez is entitled to 
qualified immunity because “[i]n the absence of 
precedential or widespread support, Ms. Lopez lacked 
notice of a constitutional requirement to accommo-
date Mr. Ragsdell’s disability.” App. 5.  

 The panel considered only briefly longstanding 
caselaw clearly forbidding irrational disability dis-
crimination, including City of Cleburne v. Cleburne 
Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432 (1985), but concluded, 
“[A]gainst the existing legal backdrop, Ms. Lopez 
would have had little reason to expect a court to 
regard denial of accommodation to Mr. Ragsdell  
as unconstitutional under the rational-basis stan-
dard.” App. 5-8. The panel did not explicitly recognize 
or discuss that irrational disparate treatment in 
employment based on disability violates clearly 
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established law of which a reasonable supervisor 
should have known.  

 Mr. Ragsdell’s timely petition for rehearing en 
banc was denied. App. 45. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 

 This Court should review the decision below for 
three reasons. First, this Court should resolve the 
circuit split that now exists, due to the Tenth Circuit’s 
decision in this case, on the question of whether the 
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment protects individuals with disabilities from 
irrational discrimination in the workplace. This 
inquiry is broader than and independent of the in-
quiry to which the Tenth Circuit unduly confined 
itself – that is, whether the Equal Protection Clause 
requires an employer to accommodate an employee’s 
disability. 

 Second, the questions presented in this case are 
of great national importance. For decades, Congress 
and this Court have recognized that individuals with 
disabilities are often victims of discrimination be-
cause of their disabilities, which, in turn, causes them 
significant social, professional, economic, and educa-
tional disadvantages. Ensuring disabled employees 
their right to, and the Constitution’s express guaran-
tee of, equal protection of the laws – and clearly 
establishing that right – is necessary to further the 
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body of law seeking to end irrational discrimination of 
individuals with disabilities.  

 Third, the Tenth Circuit erred in granting quali-
fied immunity to Ms. Lopez based the panel’s undue 
narrowing of the issue presented for review, despite 
the district court’s conclusion that numerous disputes 
of material fact exist in the record as to whether Ms. 
Lopez discriminated against Mr. Ragsdell because of 
his disability. The district court stated clearly that 
Ms. Lopez’s denial of an accommodation for Mr. 
Ragsdell was just one of many examples of disputed 
facts of discrimination. Granting Ms. Lopez qualified 
immunity in the face of the evidence presented in this 
case, in effect, sanctions workplace disability discrim-
ination and a denial of equal protection by a public, 
taxpayer-funded employer.  

 
I. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH 

OTHER CIRCUIT COURT DECISIONS ON 
WHETHER THE FOURTEENTH AMEND-
MENT PROTECTS DISABLED EMPLOYEES 
FROM IRRATIONAL DISCRIMINATION. 

 “The experience of our Nation has shown that 
prejudice may manifest itself in the treatment of 
some groups. Our response to that experience is 
reflected in the Equal Protection Clause of the Four-
teenth Amendment.” Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216 
n.14 (1982). The Equal Protection Clause commands 
that no state and/or state actor shall “deny to any 
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of 
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the laws.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. This is “essen-
tially a direction that all persons similarly situated 
should be treated alike.” City of Cleburne v. Cleburne 
Living Center, 473 U.S. 432, 439 (1985) (citing Plyler, 
457 U.S. at 216).  

 Persons with disabilities, mental and physical, 
have been no strangers to disparate and unequal 
treatment because of their disabilities. “[T]he mental-
ly [disabled] have been subject to a ‘lengthy and 
tragic history,’ of segregation and discrimination that 
can only be called grotesque.” City of Cleburne, 473 
U.S. at 461 (Marshall, J., dissenting). “[H]istorically, 
society has tended to isolate and segregate individu-
als with disabilities,” and “census data, national polls, 
and other studies have documented that people with 
disabilities, as a group, occupy an inferior status 
in our society, and are severely disadvantaged so-
cially, vocationally, economically, and educationally.” 
42 U.S.C. § 12101(a). As a result, our judicial and 
legislative systems have made consistent and concen-
trated efforts to shape and strengthen the constitu-
tional and statutory protections of disabled persons 
throughout society.  

 Three decades ago, in City of Cleburne, this Court 
held that the state and/or a state actor may not 
discriminate against a person with a disability with-
out a rational basis on which to do so. 473 U.S. at 
446. In Cleburne, a Texas municipality required the 
Cleburne Living Center to obtain a “special use 
permit” pursuant to a municipal zoning ordinance to 
operate a group home for individuals with mental 
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disabilities. Id. at 435-36. The Center applied for the 
special use permit as required; the city council voted 
to deny it. Id. at 437. The Center challenged the 
constitutionality of the zoning ordinance on its face 
and as applied, arguing that it violated the equal 
protection rights of the Center and its potential 
residents because it discriminated against those with 
mental disabilities. Id. This Court declined to con-
clude that those with mental disabilities constitute a 
quasi-suspect class (and, as a result, declined to 
subject governmental action based on that classifica-
tion to heightened scrutiny), but did hold that indi-
viduals with mental disabilities are protected from 
irrational discrimination on the basis of their disabili-
ties. Id. at 446. Aptly, Justice White wrote for the 
majority:  

Doubtless, there have been and there will 
continue to be instances of discrimination 
against the [mentally disabled] that are in 
fact invidious, and that are properly subject 
to judicial correction under constitutional 
norms.  

. . .  

To withstand equal protection review, legis-
lation that distinguishes between the men-
tally retarded and others must be rationally 
related to a legitimate governmental pur-
pose. This standard, we believe, affords gov-
ernment the latitude necessary both to 
pursue policies designed to assist the [men-
tally disabled] in realizing their full poten-
tial, and to freely and efficiently engage in 
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activities that burden the [mentally disabled] 
in what is essentially an incidental manner. 
The State may not rely on a classification 
whose relationship to an asserted goal is so 
attenuated as to render the distinction arbi-
trary or irrational.  

Id. at 446 (citing Zobel v. Williams, 457 U.S. 55, 61-63 
(1982); United States Dep’t of Agriculture v. Moreno, 
413 U.S. 528, 535 (1973)). Finding no rational basis 
for the special use permit, this Court invalidated the 
zoning ordinance as applied to the Cleburne home. Id. 
at 449. 

 Grounded in the importance of eliminating dis-
ability discrimination, in 1990 Congress passed the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), providing 
for the first time disabled persons legislative recourse 
for a wide array of discrimination against public and 
private actors. See 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., as 
amended. Title I of the ADA, which prohibits discrim-
ination in employment, provides “[n]o covered entity 
shall discriminate against a qualified individual with 
a disability because of the disability of such individu-
al in regard to job application procedures, the hiring, 
advancement, or discharge of employees, employee 
compensation, job training, and other terms, condi-
tions, and privileges of employment.” 42 U.S.C. 
§ 12112(a).  

 But the ADA does not protect all employees, as 
Title I covers only employers with fifteen or more 
employees. Id. § 12111(5)(A). Thus, disabled persons 
working at many small businesses and institutions, 
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such as Mr. Ragsdell, lack the statutory safeguards 
Congress had found to be so crucial. The constitution, 
however, still fills that gap with regard to public 
employers. Cleburne and its progeny remain good law, 
and the equal protection clause still prohibits irra-
tional discrimination by the state and/or a state actor 
because of one’s disability.  

 This Court in Bd. of Trs. of the Univ. of Alabama 
v. Garrett expressly analyzed the role of the equal 
protection clause subsequent to the enactment of the 
ADA. 531 U.S. 356 (2001). In Garrett, employees of 
the State of Alabama sued their employer for disabil-
ity discrimination under Title I of the ADA and 
sought money damages. Id. at 362. The main issue 
before the Court was whether an individual may 
recover money damages from a state pursuant to the 
ADA; this Court answered that question negatively, 
finding that the Eleventh Amendment bars suits for 
money damages against a state. Id. at 363, 374. 
Importantly, in doing so, this Court noted that while 
the Fourteenth Amendment may not require states to 
make affirmative accommodations for persons with 
disabilities, it does require that states’ actions toward 
such individuals be rational. Id. at 367-68. Put differ-
ently, as held in Cleburne, it is unconstitutional for a 
state and/or a state actor to discriminate against a 
person with a disability without a rational basis for 
doing so.  

 Likewise, in Tennessee v. Lane, this Court ana-
lyzed Title II of the ADA and its relationship to the 
Fourteenth Amendment. 541 U.S. 509 (2004). Title II 
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provides for equal participation in public services, 
programs, and activities. 42 U.S.C. § 12132. In Lane, 
the respondents, both of whom were paraplegics and 
used wheelchairs for mobility, sued the State of 
Tennessee and several of its counties alleging that 
they were unlawfully denied access to many court 
facilities. 541 U.S. at 513. Following Garrett, this 
Court concluded that the Eleventh Amendment bars 
suits for money damages against a state but reiterat-
ed that “classifications based on disability violate that 
constitutional command [that all persons are treated 
equally] if they lack a rational relationship to a 
legitimate governmental purpose.” Id. at 522 (citing 
Garrett, 531 U.S. at 366); see also id. (“Title II, like 
Title I, seeks to enforce this prohibition on irrational 
disability discrimination.”).  

 After Cleburne and the cases following it, circuit 
courts across the country have adhered to this Court’s 
holdings and analyzed legislation and other state 
action that relied on or perpetuated classifications 
based on mental and/or physical disabilities for 
rational bases. See, e.g., Currie v. Group Ins. Comm’n, 
290 F.3d 1, 24-25 (1st Cir. 2002); Lavia v. Pennsylva-
nia, 224 F.3d 190, 200 (3d Cir. 2000); Doe v. Univ. of 
Md. Medical Sys. Corp., 50 F.3d 1261, 1267 (4th Cir. 
1995); Siler-Khodr v. Univ. of Tex. Health Sci. Ctr. 
San Antonio, 261 F.3d 542, 550 n.6 (5th Cir. 2002); 
S.S. v. E. Ky. Univ., 532 F.3d 445, 457 (6th Cir. 2008); 
Discovery House, Inc. v. Consol. City of Indianapolis, 
319 F.3d 277, 282 (7th Cir. 2003); Klingler v. Dep’t of 
Revenue, 455 F.3d 888, 894 (8th Cir. 2006).  
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 Here, the Tenth Circuit’s decision runs contrary 
to this Court’s and the other circuit courts’ precedent. 
The panel’s holding reverses the district court’s con-
clusion that disputed facts regarding Mr. Ragsdell’s 
discrimination claim precluded the entry of summary 
judgment, thereby skipping altogether the requisite 
inquiry into the rationality (or lack thereof) of Ms. 
Lopez’s discriminatory acts. This holding conflicts 
with other circuit court decisions, thus warranting 
review.  

 
II. THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED IN THIS 

CASE ARE OF GREAT NATIONAL IM-
PORTANCE AND IMPLICATE IMPORTANT 
CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS.  

 Whether a person with a disability has a right to 
be free from irrational discrimination on the basis of 
such disability in the workplace is a question of great 
national and constitutional importance. In enacting 
the ADA, Congress recognized the many ways in 
which persons with disabilities have experienced dis-
crimination, and the many detrimental effects such 
discrimination has. For example, Congress expressly 
found: 

(1) physical or mental disabilities in no way 
diminish a person’s right to fully participate 
in all aspects of society, yet many people with 
physical or mental disabilities have been 
precluded from doing so because of discrimi-
nation; others who have a record of a disability 
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or are regarded as having a disability also 
have been subjected to discrimination;  

. . .  

(3) discrimination against individuals with 
disabilities persists in such critical areas as 
employment, 

. . .  

(6) census data, national polls, and other 
studies have documented that people with 
disabilities, as a group, occupy an inferior 
status in our society, and are severely disad-
vantaged socially, vocationally, economically, 
and educationally; 

(7) the Nation’s proper goals regarding in-
dividuals with disabilities are to assure 
equality of opportunity, full participation, 
independent living, and economic self-
sufficiency for such individuals; and  

(8) the continuing existence of unfair and 
unnecessary discrimination and prejudice 
denies people with disabilities the opportuni-
ty to compete on an equal basis and to pur-
sue those opportunities for which our free 
society is justifiably famous, and costs the 
United States billions of dollars in unneces-
sary expenses resulting from dependency 
and nonproductivity.  

42 U.S.C. § 12101(a). As a whole, Congress enacted 
the ADA “to provide a clear and comprehensive 
national mandate for the elimination of discrimina-
tion against individuals with disabilities” and “to 
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provide clear, strong, consistent, enforceable stan-
dards addressing discrimination against individuals 
with disabilities.” Id. at § 12101(b)(1)-(2).  

 Likewise, this Court has recognized time and 
time again the great importance of protecting persons 
with disabilities from discrimination. See, e.g., Lane, 
541 U.S. at 516 (“The ADA was passed by large 
majorities in both Houses of Congress after decades of 
deliberation and investigation into the need for 
comprehensive legislation to address discrimination 
against persons with disabilities.”); Garrett, 531 U.S. 
at 366; City of Cleburne, 473 U.S. at 446. If the Tenth 
Circuit’s opinion in this case stands, innumerable 
municipalities, counties, and other small government 
entities not large enough to be governed by the ADA 
within this circuit, and potentially across the country, 
will have carte blanche to discriminate against em-
ployees with disabilities for any reason whatsoever. 
This certainly does very little to further Congress’s 
and the Equal Protection Clause’s mandate to elimi-
nate irrational disability discrimination. Indeed, it 
sets our constitutional precedent back at least three 
decades, if not more. The questions this case raises, 
and the constitutional protections this case impli-
cates, deserve this Court’s review.  
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III. THE TENTH CIRCUIT ERRED IN GRANT-
ING QUALIFIED IMMUNITY TO JENNIFER 
LOPEZ.  

 Rather than consider whether there is a clearly 
established right under the Equal Protection Clause 
to be free from irrational disability discrimination, 
the Tenth Circuit evaluated whether there is a clearly 
established right under the Equal Protection Clause 
to a workplace accommodation for a disability. This 
framing improperly narrowed the issue presented, as 
it was articulated by the district court and argued by 
both parties, and it led the panel to the wrong result. 

 There is no discernible reason for the panel’s 
narrowing of the issue. In its opinion, the panel 
wrote, “[T]he district court identified only one factual 
disagreement.” App. 4. This is incorrect. The district 
court concluded in its analysis of this issue that the 
record contains “many examples” of genuine disputes 
of material facts. App. 43. The district court simply 
articulated one of those many examples as being “the 
conflicting testimony regarding whether Mr. Ragsdell 
received appropriate accommodation in physically 
moving paper files.” App. 43. The district court did 
not state that there are many examples of the denial 
of accommodations, but rather that there are many 
examples of genuine disputes of material facts with 
regard to Mr. Ragsdell’s disability discrimination 
claim.  

 This was the manner in which the parties pre-
sented the issue on appeal. In her opening brief to the 
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Tenth Circuit, Ms. Lopez articulated the primary 
issue presented as: 

Government officials are afforded qualified 
immunity from suit when their conduct does 
not violate clearly established law. In light of 
this legal axiom, did the District Court im-
properly deny Ms. Lopez’s defense of quali-
fied immunity when her actions as found by 
the District Court and as alleged by Mr. 
Ragsdell did not violate clearly established 
law? 

She then stated that to establish a prima facie case of 
disability discrimination, Mr. Ragsdell must demon-
strate (1) he is a member of a protected class; (2) he 
suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) sim-
ilarly situated employees were treated differently. See 
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 
(1973); Trujillo v. Univ. of Colo. Health Sciences Ctr., 
157 F.3d 1211, 1215 (10th Cir. 1998). There is no 
requirement in the prima facie case that Mr. Ragsdell 
show a denial of accommodation, and Mr. Ragdell’s 
claim of discrimination was never based solely on an 
allegation that he was denied an accommodation. 
Rather, he alleged that he was treated less favorably 
than similarly situated non-disabled employees, 
which violated his constitutional right to equal pro-
tection. His claim is one of disparate treatment, that 
he was treated differently than non-disabled employ-
ees because of his disability. 

 Mr. Ragsdell argued in his response brief in the 
Tenth Circuit:  
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Ms. Lopez cannot be qualifiedly immune 
from suit because she violated his clearly es-
tablished Constitutional right to be free from 
irrationally disparate treatment based on his 
disability . . . Mr. Ragsdell’s right to be free 
from discrimination and irrational and dis-
parate treatment because of his disability is 
clearly established under the Fourteenth 
Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause and 
Supreme Court and Tenth Circuit case law.  

He also described in detail the myriad of ways in 
which Ms Lopez treated him differently and less 
favorably than similarly situated, non-disabled em-
ployees (that is, the ways in which she discriminated 
against him). This discriminatory treatment was in 
addition to (and independent of) Ms. Lopez’s discrim-
inatory refusals to provide any sort of accommodation 
for Mr. Ragsdell’s disability.  

 As stated above, a prima facie case of disability 
discrimination in the employment context requires 
the employee to show merely that he was a member 
of a protected class and suffered an adverse employ-
ment action, and similarly situated employees were 
treated more favorably. See Trujillo, 157 F.3d at 1215. 
There is no requirement that the employer deny the 
employee an accommodation. This is because failing 
to provide a reasonable accommodation is but one of 
the many ways in which an employer might discrimi-
nate against a disabled employee. See, e.g., Garrett, 
531 U.S. at 361 (describing accommodation for dis-
ability as a mere means to an end, the end being 
the prevention of discrimination on the basis of that 
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disability). By focusing solely on Ms. Lopez’s failure to 
provide reasonable accommodation to Mr. Ragsdell, 
the panel unduly narrowed the issue presented on 
appeal, contrary to the district court’s order and the 
parties’ briefing, and thereby erred in granting quali-
fied immunity to Ms. Lopez.  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ 
of certiorari should be granted.  

Respectfully submitted, 

DAROLD W. KILLMER* 
DANIELLE C. JEFFERIS 
KILLMER, LANE & NEWMAN, LLP 
1543 Champa Street, Suite 400 
Denver, CO 80202 
(303) 571-1000 
dkillmer@kln-law.com 

*Counsel of Record 
Counsel for Petitioner 
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Before TYMKOVICH, GORSUCH, and BACHARACH, 
Circuit Judges. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 Mr. Kenneth Ragsdell worked for the Regional 
Housing Alliance (a governmental entity) while 
disabled from multiple sclerosis. He eventually quit, 
allegedly because his supervisor (Ms. Jennifer Lopez) 

 
 * This order and judgment does not constitute binding 
precedent except under the doctrines of law of the case, res 
judicata, and collateral estoppel. But, under some circumstanc-
es, citation may be permissible under Fed. R. App. P. 32.1(a) and 
10th Cir. R. 32.1(A). 
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had irrationally refused any accommodations for the 
disability. After quitting, Mr. Ragsdell sued the 
housing alliance and Ms. Lopez, invoking state law 
against the housing alliance and alleging denial of 
equal protection by both defendants.1 The housing 
alliance and Ms. Lopez unsuccessfully moved for 
summary judgment. After the court denied the mo-
tion, the housing alliance and Ms. Lopez appealed. 

 In this appeal, the primary issue involves Ms. 
Lopez’s assertion of qualified immunity on the equal 
protection claim. She is entitled to qualified immuni-
ty in the absence of a clearly established constitu-
tional right to accommodation for disabled employees. 
Such a right has not been recognized by the Supreme 
Court, our court, or other federal appellate courts. In 
the absence of precedential or persuasive support for 
this constitutional right, Ms. Lopez is entitled to 
qualified immunity. Thus, we reverse the denial of 
her motion for summary judgment. 

 
I. Equal Protection Claim Against Ms. Lopez 

(Qualified Immunity) 

 Under the precedents in the Supreme Court and 
our court, there is no clearly established constitution-
al protection against employment discrimination on 
the basis of a disability. 

 
 1 Mr. Ragsdell concedes that the Americans with Disabili-
ties Act does not apply. See Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq (2012). 
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 The threshold issue is jurisdiction. As Mr. 
Ragsdell conceded in his brief, we have jurisdiction to 
determine whether the law was clearly established at 
the time of the alleged violation. Roosevelt-Hennix v. 
Prickett, 717 F.3d 751, 753 (10th Cir. 2013). 

 With jurisdiction, we must consider whether the 
law was clearly established when Ms. Lopez allegedly 
failed to accommodate Mr. Ragsdell for his disability. 
Because the issue arises in summary judgment 
proceedings, we view the evidence in the light most 
favorable to Mr. Ragsdell, the party opposing the 
motion. See Eisenhour v. Weber Cnty., 744 F.3d 1220, 
1226 (10th Cir. 2014). Viewing the evidence this way, 
we confine our focus to legal issues. See Al-Turki v. 
Robinson, 762 F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th Cir. 2014). The 
legal issues for qualified immunity are 

• whether a reasonable trier of fact could 
find a legal violation, and 

• whether the legal duty was clearly es-
tablished at the time of the alleged vio-
lation. 

Id. 

 In considering the second legal issue, we ordi-
narily consider a right to be clearly established only 
if it has been acknowledged in decisions by the 
Supreme Court, our court, or the weight of authority 
elsewhere. Tonkovich v. Kan. Bd. of Regents, 159 
F.3d 504, 516 (10th Cir. 1998). The facts in these 
decisions need not be identical, but the cases must 
provide adequate notice to alert Ms. Lopez to the 
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constitutional right. Green v. Post, 574 F.3d 1294, 
1299-1300 (10th Cir. 2009). 

 In the summary judgment ruling, the district 
court identified only one factual disagreement.2 That 
example was whether Ms. Lopez had refused to help 
Mr. Ragsdell move his paper files. Mr. Ragsdell adds 
in his appeal brief that Ms. Lopez 

• harassed him about his available leave 
time, medical needs, and need to clean 
his office, 

• refused to allow him to fully participate 
in a flexible spending program, and 

• failed to make reasonable accommoda-
tions involving rest and scheduling of 
duties. 

 For the sake of argument, we may assume that 
Mr. Ragsdell’s summary judgment evidence would 
create triable issues on each allegation. With this 
assumption, we would need to decide whether the 
alleged actions violated a clearly established constitu-
tional right. We conclude that if such a right existed, 
it was not clear from any precedents. 

 Neither the Supreme Court nor our court has 
ever applied the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal 
Protection Clause to unequal treatment based on a 
failure to accommodate an employee’s disability. To 

 
 2 The district court added that many examples existed. 
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the contrary, both courts have suggested that the 
Equal Protection Clause does not apply in these 
circumstances. For example, the Supreme Court has 
observed that “[i]f special accommodations for the 
disabled are to be required, they have to come from 
positive law and not through the Equal Protection 
Clause.” Bd. of Trs. of Univ. of Ala. v. Garrett, 531 
U.S. 356, 367-68 (2001). And, we have rejected an 
equal protection claim by a disabled job applicant, 
reasoning that “nothing in the United States Consti-
tution requires the City to accommodate [the disabled 
applicant’s] condition.” Welsh v. Tulsa, 977 F.2d 1415, 
1420 (10th Cir. 1992). Other courts have reached 
similar conclusions. See, e.g., Erickson v. Bd. of Govs. 
of State Colls. & Univs. for Ne. Ill. Univ., 207 F.3d 
945, 949 (7th Cir. 2000) (“Consideration of an em-
ployee’s disabilities is proper, so far as the Constitu-
tion is concerned.”). 

 In the absence of precedential or widespread 
support, Ms. Lopez lacked notice of a constitutional 
requirement to accommodate Mr. Ragsdell’s disability. 
Thus, Ms. Lopez is entitled to qualified immunity as 
a matter of law. See DeVargas v. Mason & Hanger-
Silas Mason Co., 844 F.2d 714, 725 (10th Cir. 1988) 
(holding as a matter of law that the defendants were 
entitled to qualified immunity on a claim based on 
disqualification of one-eyed individuals as inspectors, 
reasoning that the right was not clearly established). 

 Mr. Ragsdell points out that the Equal Protection 
Clause forbids any classification lacking a rational 
relationship to a legitimate governmental objective. 
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See, e.g., Powers v. Harris, 379 F.3d 1208, 1216 (10th 
Cir. 2004). In Mr. Ragsdell’s view, this prohibition 
applied because Ms. Lopez had irrationally refused to 
make any accommodations. 

 For the sake of argument, we may assume that 
Ms. Lopez’s conduct was irrational and violated Mr. 
Ragsdell’s right to equal protection. But, these as-
sumptions would not preclude qualified immunity, for 
Mr. Ragsdell “must do more than simply allege the 
violation of a general legal precept” such as the 
rational-basis standard for equal protection. Jantz v. 
Muci, 976 F.2d 623, 627 (10th Cir. 1992). He must 
also show that existing law would have alerted Ms. 
Lopez to the unlawfulness of her actions. See Ander-
son v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987) (“The 
contours of the right must be sufficiently clear that a 
reasonable official would understand that what he is 
doing violates that duty.”). 

 To make this showing, Mr. Ragsdell relies on 
three cases: 

• City of Cleburne, Tex. v. Cleburne Living 
Ctr., 473 U.S. 432 (1985); 

• Ramirez v. Dep’t of Corrs., 222 F.3d 1238 
(10th Cir. 2000); and 

• Copelin-Brown v. N.M. State Pers. Office, 
399 F.3d 1248 (10th Cir. 2005). 

These cases do not create a clearly established right 
in the present context. “[T]he result depends very 
much on the facts of each case,” and Cleburne, 
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Ramirez, and Copelin-Brown involved far different 
facts. Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 201 (2004) 
(per curiam). 

 In Cleburne, the Supreme Court simply applied 
the Equal Protection Clause to support rational-basis 
review of a zoning ordinance restricting the location 
of group homes for individuals with mental disabili-
ties. City of Cleburne, 473 U.S. at 442, 446. The 
Supreme Court clarified Cleburne in Garrett: 

[T]he result of Cleburne is that States are 
not required by the Fourteenth Amendment 
to make special accommodations for the dis-
abled, so long as their actions toward such 
individuals are rational. They could quite 
hardheadedly – and perhaps hardheartedly – 
hold to job-qualification requirements which 
do not make allowance for the disabled. 

Bd. of Trs. of Univ. of Ala. v. Garrett, 531 U.S. 356, 
367-68 (2001). 

 With this clarification, Cleburne could not rea-
sonably have provided notice to Ms. Lopez that she 
had a constitutional duty to accommodate Mr. 
Ragsdell’s disability. 

 The same is true of Ramirez and Copelin-Brown. 
In Ramirez, we simply held that the Constitution 
clearly prohibited discrimination based on race and 
national origin – not disability. Ramirez, 222 F.3d at 
1243-44. And, in Copelin-Brown, we held that the 
Constitution clearly protected employees’ right to a 
hearing to challenge their termination. Copelin-Brown, 
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399 F.3d at 1256. The allegations against Ms. Lopez 
did not involve entitlement to a hearing. 

 Against the existing legal backdrop, Ms. Lopez 
would have had little reason to expect a court to 
regard denial of accommodation to Mr. Ragsdell as 
unconstitutional under the rational-basis standard. 
See DeVargas v. Mason & Hanger-Silas Mason Co., 
844 F.2d 714, 725 (10th Cir. 1988) (holding that a 
prospective employer was entitled to qualified im-
munity in part because of the absence of any decision 
that a regulatory classification based on a disability 
(vision in only one eye) lacked a rational basis); see 
also Jantz v. Muci, 976 F.2d 623, 630 (10th Cir. 1992).3 

 
II. Claims Against the Housing Alliance 

(Pendent Appellate Jurisdiction) 

 Mr. Ragsdell has also sued the housing alliance 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Colorado Anti-
Discrimination Act. The district court denied the 

 
 3 In Jantz v. Muci, we addressed whether an employer had 
qualified immunity when he allegedly declined to hire a man 
based on perceived “homosexual tendencies.” Jantz v. Muci, 976 
F.2d 623, 625-27 (10th Cir. 1992). When the employer made the 
hiring decision, the rational-basis standard applied. Id. at 628. 
The applicant argued that the refusal to hire him because of 
perceived homosexuality “could not withstand the clearly 
established rational basis review.” Id. We rejected this argument 
and held that the employer enjoyed qualified immunity. Id. at 
628-30. A rational-basis standard was clearly established; but 
under existing precedents, unlawfulness under the rational-
basis standard would not have been apparent. Id. at 630. 



App. 9 

housing alliance’s summary judgment motion on 
these claims, and the housing alliance appeals under 
a theory of “pendent appellate jurisdiction.” We can 
entertain this appeal only if the housing alliance’s 
arguments are “inextricably intertwined” with our 
consideration of Ms. Lopez’s qualified immunity. 
Tarrant Reg’l Water Dist. v. Sevenoaks, 545 F.3d 906, 
915 (10th Cir. 2008). 

 The issues are not inextricably intertwined. We 
have held that the alleged constitutional rights were 
not clearly established for someone in Ms. Lopez’s 
position, but have not addressed the underlying 
constitutionality of her actions. Thus, our decision on 
qualified immunity does not affect the constitutional 
or statutory claims against the housing alliance. In 
these circumstances, we dismiss the housing alli-
ance’s appeal based on a lack of jurisdiction. See 
Lynch v. Barrett, 703 F.3d 1153, 1164 (10th Cir. 2013) 
(concluding that we lacked pendent appellate juris-
diction based on our reliance on the absence of a 
clearly established constitutional right in deciding 
qualified immunity). 

 
III. Disposition 

 We reverse and remand the denial of summary 
judgment for Ms. Lopez, directing the district court to 
award summary judgment to her based on qualified 
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immunity. We also dismiss the housing alliance’s 
appeal based on a lack of jurisdiction. 

Entered for the Court 

Robert E. Bacharach  
Circuit Judge 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Civil Action No. 1:12-cv-00967-JLK 

KENNETH JASON RAGSDELL, 

  Plaintiff, 

v. 

REGIONAL HOUSING ALLIANCE OF 
LA PLATA COUNTY, LA PLATA HOMES 
FUND, INC., and JENNIFER LOPEZ, 

  Defendants. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN 
PART ECF. DOC 34 & GRANTING ECF DOC. 35 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
(Filed Mar. 12, 2014) 

Kane, J. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Before me in this employment discrimination ac-
tion are two motions for summary judgment: the joint 
motion of Defendants the RHA and Ms. Lopez at Doc. 
34, and Defendant LPHF’s separate motion at Doc. 
35. For the following reasons, regarding Doc. 34, I 
GRANT summary judgment in favor of Defendants 
Lopez and the RHA on Mr. Ragsdell’s Second (Re-
habilitation Act) and Fourth (wrongful discharge-
constructive discharge) claims and DENY summary 
judgment for the same on Mr. Ragsdell’s First (Equal 
Protection) and Third (CADA) claims. I further 
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GRANT LPHF’s Motion for Summary Judgment, 
Doc. 35, in full. 

 
II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 This action arises under the Constitution and 
laws of the United States and is brought per Title 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 
29 U.S.C. § 701 et seq. I have jurisdiction per 28 
U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343 and 1367 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
Jurisdiction supporting Mr. Ragsdell’s claim for at-
torney fees and costs is conferred by 42 U.S.C. § 1988 
and 29 U.S.C. § 794a(b). 

 The employment practices alleged to be unlawful 
were committed within the United States District of 
Colorado. Venue is proper in this Court per 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1391. 

 
III. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Summary judgment is appropriate if there is no 
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant 
is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 56(c); Adamson v. Multi Community Diversified 
Servs., Inc., 514 F.3d 1136, 1145 (10th Cir. 2008). A 
disputed fact is material if it could affect the outcome 
of the suit under the governing law. Adamson, 514 
F.3d at 1145. A factual dispute is genuine if a rational 
jury could find for the nonmoving party on the evi-
dence presented. Id. In deciding whether the moving 
party has carried its burden, I may not weigh the 
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evidence and must view the evidence and draw all 
reasonable inferences from it in the light most favor-
able to the nonmoving party. See Anderson v. Liberty 
Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986); Adamson, 514 
F.3d at 1145. Neither unsupported conclusory allega-
tions nor a mere scintilla of evidence in support of the 
nonmovant’s position are sufficient to create a genu-
ine dispute of fact. See Mackenzie v. City and County 
of Denver, 414 F.3d 1266, 1273 (10th Cir. 2005); Law-
master v. Ward, 125 F.3d 1341, 1347 (10th Cir. 1997). 

 
IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 Defendant the Regional Housing Alliance of La 
Plata County (the “RHA”) is a small community 
based housing assistance organization, with four em-
ployees during the relevant time period, helping low 
to middle income individuals and families purchase 
homes in southwestern Colorado. The RHA is a gov-
ernmental entity and operates under a funding agree-
ment between La Plata County, the City of Durango, 
and the Towns of Ignacio and Bayfield. Defendant La 
Plata Homes Fund (“LPHF”) is a non-governmental, 
non-profit affordable housing agency also designed 
to help individuals and families purchase homes in 
southwestern Colorado. As a non-profit, LPHF had 
the ability to borrow money in compliance with 
TABOR and to apply for major funding sources in-
cluding the Department of Treasury’s program for 
Community Development Financial Institutions (“CDFI”) 
certification. It obtained CDFI certification. 
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 LPHF is governed by a voluntary board of direc-
tors who meet on a monthly basis. The individuals 
who make up the LPHF board are entirely separate 
from those that serve on the RHA Board of Directors. 
LPHF has no employees and all of LPHF functions 
are performed by contractors. Personnel issues were 
never discussed at LPHF meetings. In early Septem-
ber 2008, LPHF and the RHA entered into a Master-
Agreement for Cooperative Services. Upon entering 
into the Master Agreement, the RHA and LPHF 
agreed that: 

[LPHF] shall not be deemed to be an enter-
prise of the RHA or a subsidiary entity 
owned or controlled by the RHA. [LPHF] 
shall only exercise the authority set forth 
herein or in a supplementary contract be-
tween the parties, and shall not otherwise be 
deemed to be an agent of the RHA. The par-
ties agree that [LPHF] shall be deemed to be 
an independent organization and that it 
shall not be subject in any way to the provi-
sions of state law that apply to governmental 
entities, including the provisions of TABOR. 

Exhibit at p. 2, ¶8. LPHF contracted with the RHA 
for use of their executive director to provide services 
specific to grants available and for defined time pe-
riods. At all times material, Jennifer Lopez was Ex-
ecutive Director of the RHA. 

 In February of 2011, Mr. Ragsdell was hired over 
other applicants by Ms. Lopez and the RNA’s then 
Deputy Director, Julie Levy, to be a Client Services 
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Advisor. At the time of his hire, Ms. Lopez and 
Ms. Levy were both aware that Mr. Ragsdell has mul-
tiple sclerosis (“MS”), but neither was concerned this 
would be an issue or a reason not to hire him. Upon 
his hire, Mr. Ragsdell acknowledged receipt of the 
RHA handbook, and further acknowledged that he 
had the opportunity to review the handbook. After 
review of the RHA Handbook, Mr. Ragsdell did not 
have any questions concerning its contents. Before 
termination of an employment relationship, the RHA 
Handbook provides several types of discipline includ-
ing verbal counseling, official written reprimand and 
suspension. Mr. Ragsdell further acknowledged that, 
through the policies of the handbook and his personal 
understanding, the RHA utilized a system of progres-
sive discipline, reaching termination after prior lesser 
discipline had been conducted. 

 From Mr. Ragsdell’s hiring through February of 
2011, Ms. Levy was Mr. Ragsdell’s immediate super-
visor. Part of Mr. Ragsdell’s duties as a Client Ser-
vices Advisor were to maintain client files. In the fall 
of 2010, Mr. Ragsdell received a performance eval-
uation from Ms. Levy after his first six months of 
probationary employment. The evaluation was gener-
ally positive, but did not result in a pay raise and 
indicated Mr. Ragsdell could improve on setting 
realistic deadlines. In the beginning of 2011, Ms. Levy 
announced that she would be leaving the RHA for 
another job. 

 Before she left her employment with the RHA, 
Ms. Levy sought a specific document from a client 
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file. When both she and Mr. Ragsdell were unable to 
locate the document in the file, Ms. Levy became 
concerned that loans for which Mr. Ragsdell was 
responsible were at risk and that the RHA’s resources 
were not protected. Upon realizing the status of the 
files, Ms. Levy consulted with Ms. Lopez and voiced 
her concern that the status of the files may cause 
issues with the upcoming audit. After Ms. Levy an-
nouncing she was leaving, on February 7, 2011, Mr. 
Ragsdell received his one year performance review 
from Ms. Levy. Mr. Ragsdell’s capabilities, as rated by 
Ms. Levy, stayed generally the same with the excep-
tions that his product/technical knowledge and time 
management scores received one and two point re-
ductions, respectively. Around the same time as Mr. 
Ragsdell’s one year performance evaluation, and after 
Ms. Levy had informed the RHA that she would be 
leaving, Mr. Ragsdell informed Ms. Lopez that he had 
applied for another job as a radio deejay. 

 In light of the upcoming departure of Ms. Levy 
and Mr. Ragsdell’s request to take on more respon-
sibilities, and in an attempt to persuade him from 
leaving the RHA for other employment, thereby leav-
ing the RHA with only two employees, Mr. Ragsdell 
received a raise and additional responsibilities in 
February 2011. At the time of Mr. Ragsdell’s raise in 
early February 2011, Ms. Lopez was “fairly unaware” 
of Mr. Ragsdell’s previous performance. Lopez Dep. 
158:17-20. Shortly after Mr. Ragsdell received his raise, 
and shortly before Ms. Levy left the RHA, Ms. Levy 
informed Ms. Lopez about some issues concerning her 
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regarding Mr. Ragsdell’s performance. After Ms. Levy 
informed Ms. Lopez about Mr. Ragsdell’s various 
deficiencies, the three met for a short meeting in 
which the various issues with Mr. Ragsdell’s employ-
ment were discussed. At the close of the meeting, Ms. 
Levy compiled a memorandum documenting her con-
cerns that were discussed in the meeting. Sometime 
between February 7th and 17th, Mr. Ragsdell in-
formed Ms. Lopez that his medical condition would 
require him to increase his medical visits to Denver 
from twice per year to four times per year. Mr. 
Ragsdell was never denied leave to go to a medical 
appointment and attended one of his requisite trips 
between the time he notified Ms. Lopez of his in-
creased frequency and when he quit. 

 To prepare the RHA for upcoming federal audits 
and to provide temporary support to the client ser-
vices activities because of Ms. Levy’s departure, in 
late January 2011, the RHA hired Marietta Linney as 
a temporary assistant. Just after Ms. Linney was 
hired, on Friday, January 28, 2011, Ms. Lopez di-
rected Mr. Ragsdell to spend the following Tuesday 
morning with Ms. Linney in an effort to get Mr. 
Ragdell’s files in order. In preparing for the upcoming 
audit in 2011, Ms. Linney became concerned about 
the condition of the files and what had not been done. 
In addition to preparing closed files for audit Ms. 
Linney also assisted Mr. Ragsdell in organizing his 
other open/intake files. Ms. Linney recalled that the 
client intake files were strewn about Mr. Ragsdell’s 
office, “on the floor all over, spread all over. Some on 
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the counter, some on the filing cabinets, kinds every-
where.” Linney Dep. 30:1-7; Ex. 81, ¶ 10. Mr. Ragsdell 
maintains his files were in disarray because Ms. 
Lopez had just ordered him to reorganize the files. 

 Near the approach of the financial audits, Ms. 
Lopez sent Plaintiff two emails, on March 24 and 25, 
2011. In the emails, Ms. Lopez stated: 

• “Jason – It would be prudent to tidy your 
office up for the auditors next week – if you 
need to come in this weekend to do so I 
would let you bank the hours – thanks” 
[Email from Ms. Lopez to Plaintiff regarding 
office, dated March 24, 2011.]. 

• Jason – please do as much as you can 
around audit finalization – if you don’t get it 
all done today would you consider coming in 
this weekend? [Email chain between Plain-
tiff and Ms. Lopez regarding FSA Question, 
dated March 23, 2011.] 

Mr. Ragsdell came in over that weekend and did 
as requested. In the beginning of March 2011, Mr. 
Ragsdell took an approved two week vacation to 
Europe, returning to work on March 15, 2011. On the 
day following Mr. Ragsdell’s return to work, Ms. 
Lopez sent an email to him noting her concern that 
his leave accruals were low due to the recent vacation 
and informing him that he may want to think about 
banking hours to ensure that he had enough leave 
time accrued to accommodate his upcoming medical 
appointments. 
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 In early April 2011, with Pam Moore coming 
on as Deputy Director, the employees of the RHA 
discussed switching offices. In discussing the office 
moves, Mr. Ragsdell noted that the move to another 
office would “be better for [him] anyways because it 
would be cooler.” Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 166:12-21. The 
night before the office move, on March 28, 2011, Ms. 
Lopez asked Mr. Ragsdell to sign an acknowledgment 
form concerning Red Flag Rules. The Red Flag Rules 
addressed confidentiality and proper care of personal 
information to ensure that it was not inadvertently 
disclosed to the public. Mr. Ragsdell testified that he 
believed Defendant Lopez asked him to sign so that 
she could later accuse him of violating the rules. 
Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 117:3-23. 

 On a weekend in early April, staff from the RHA, 
as well as the husbands of two employees, moved all 
of the furniture, including filing cabinets, from Mr. 
Ragsdell’s old office, across the hall to his new office. 
During a weekday following the move, Mr. Ragsdell 
was sitting in the lobby and asserts that Ms. Lopez 
asked him, “What are you doing? Just chillaxin?” and 
then asked Mr. Ragsdell to assist with the move. 
Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 22:9-20. Mr. Ragsdell asserted 
that by assisting in the office move he, “felt [he] 
would have just been more in the way than helpful.” 
Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 23:3-7. Mr. Ragsdell states that 
he requested assistance in moving files from one 
office to the other and was denied. Ragsdell Dep., Vol. 
I, 167:3-6. Eventually, with the help of a rolling chair, 
Mr. Ragsdell moved all of the files by himself. On 
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April 5, 2011, about a week after the move, Ms. Lopez 
emailed Mr. Ragsdell instructing him on the priorities 
for that week. The list included an instruction for him 
to get his new office settled as soon as possible. Mr. 
Ragsdell perceived this email as harassing, because 
his medical condition made settling the new files in 
his office a burden. The next week, on April 13, 2011, 
Ms. Lopez sent Mr. Ragsdell another list denoting the 
tasks to be addressed that week. Again, among other 
items for the week Ms. Lopez instructed Plaintiff to, 
“Finish filing and settling into the office, organizing 
files etc.” Exhibits 11 & 47. 

 The April 13th email also expressed Ms. Lopez’s 
concern over her belief that Mr. Ragsdell had ex-
hausted his available sick leave after he had taken 
time off for a chest cold. Mr. Ragsdell cordially re-
sponded to the April 13, 2011, clarifying that he had 
one day of sick leave remaining, one day of vacation, 
and two days of comp remaining, but that he would 
be putting extra hours anyway. Mr. Ragsdell per-
ceived that it was irrational for Ms. Lopez to express-
ing concern or warning him that he was getting low 
on leave after he used portions of his leave. He be-
lieved this inquiry was her “umpteenth.” Ragsdell 
Dep., Vol. I, 163:22-164:6, 

 Nearly a month after the move, Mr. Ragsdell had 
not by April 25, 2011 arranged his office or properly 
put the files in their appropriate place. On the even-
ing of April 25, 2011, a Monday, Ms. Lopez forwarded 
two memoranda to Mr. Ragsdell, sent him an email 
and again asked him to acknowledge the Red Flag 
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Rules. The email ordered Mr. Ragsdell “to have [his] 
office in immaculate condition with all files properly 
filed by wed [sic] at 8 am.” Exhibit 24; Exhibit 131, 
Lopez Dep. 53:14-54:1, 54:23-55:1. The email further 
instructed, “I need to see better performance from you 
immediately.” Id. Ms. Lopez characterizes the memos 
as addressing ongoing performance issues, while Mr. 
Ragsdell characterizes them as scrutiny and threats 
of termination. At his deposition, Mr. Ragsdell ac-
knowledged that all of the program changes and 
requests in the Exhibit 1 memo, taken on their own, 
were not inappropriate instructions. Ragsdell Dep., 
Vol. I, 24:7-29:25. He further acknowledged that cer-
tain job performance issues raised in the Exhibit 2 
memo were not unreasonable on their own. Id. at 
57:4-7. 

 Mr. Ragsdell argues, however, that though not 
unreasonable individually, the memoranda are exam-
ples of the way he felt he could never keep up with 
Ms. Lopez’s directions. Mr. Ragsdell observed that 
“[i]t seemed literally nothing was acceptable to Ms. 
Lopez” and that he was under “nonstop,” unwarranted 
scrutiny from Ms. Lopez. Id. at 138:10-14, 142:10-23. 
After receiving the memoranda, Mr. Ragsdell re-
quested assistance from Ms. Linney to arrange the 
files in his office. Ms. Linney then assisted him in 
arranging the files, which took a couple of minutes. 
On April 26, 2011, Mr. Ragsdell was angry and wanted 
to speak with Ms. Lopez. As he was coming in, how-
ever, she was leaving to go on a field trip with her son 
and told Mr. Ragsdell he would have to wait until 
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sometime in the afternoon of that day to speak with 
him. Mr. Ragsdell decided not to wait and instead 
verbally resigned to Ms. Moore. In resigning, Mr. 
Ragsdell instructed Ms. Moore and all other RHA 
employees to never contact him; and that he would 
not answer any questions, including follow-up ques-
tions about processes or client files. When Ms. Moore 
asked if there were any “fires” (i.e. emergencies) that 
she should know about, Mr. Ragsdell responded by 
saying that he was no longer answering questions. 
Mr. Ragsdell asserts that his rationale for refusing to 
answer further questions is because further commu-
nication would invite accusations of deficiencies and 
harassment from Ms. Lopez. Before resigning, Mr. 
Ragsdell did not attempt to levy a discrimination 
complaint or talk to the RHA board. Nor did he con-
sult the Employment handbook or attempt to deter-
mine whether a grievance procedure was available. 
Mr. Ragsdell did not know that mediation through 
the EEOC or the CCRD was available and did not 
seek it. Mr. Ragsdell acknowledges that Ms. Lopez 
never yelled at him or called him names, but asserts 
that she was “always sarcastic.” Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 
143:7-10. 

 
V. DISCUSSION 

A. LPHF is not liable because there was no em-
ployment relationship between it and Mr. 
Ragsdell. 

 Because LPHF never employed Mr. Ragsdell, all 
claims against LPHF fail irrespective of what they 
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might offer on their merits. An employment relation-
ship can be shown in two ways (1) the joint-employer 
test, or (2) the integrated enterprise or single em-
ployer test. See, e.g., Bristol v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs of 
the Cnty. of Clear Creek, 312 F.3d 1213, 1218 (10th 
Cir. 2002). Here, Mr. Ragsdell cannot establish that 
LPHF was his employer under either test. 

 
i. LPHF was not Mr. Ragsdell’s employer 

under the joint employer test. 

 Independent entities may be characterized as 
joint employers “if the entities share or co-determine 
those matters governing the essential terms and con-
ditions of employment.” Sandoval v. Boulder Reg’l 
Communs. Ctr., 388 F.3d 1312, 1323-24 (10th Cir. 
2004) (quoting Bristol v. Bd. of County Comm’rs of the 
County of Clear Creek, 312 F.3d 1213, 1218 (10th Cir. 
2002)). “The basis of the [joint employer] finding is 
simply that one employer while contracting in good 
faith with an otherwise independent company, has 
retained for itself sufficient control of the terms and 
conditions of employment of the employees who are 
employed by the other employer.” Id. at 1324 (quoting 
Swallows v. Barnes & Noble Book Stores, Inc., 128 
F.3d 990, 993 n.4 (6th Cir. 1997)). “Most important to 
control over the terms and conditions of an employ-
ment relationship is the right to terminate it under 
certain circumstances.” Id. (quoting Bristol, 312 F.3d 
at 1219). LPHF does not have sufficient control of 
RHA and its employees to meet this test. 
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 To begin, LPHF itself does not have and never 
has had employees. Instead, LPHF’s volunteer Board 
of Directors contracts with various entities to provide 
the necessary services for its operation. This includes 
contracting with the RHA for definitive periods of 
time with earmarked funds from specific grants. 
While LPHF may contract with the RHA for specific 
services, the RHA is solely responsible for the hiring, 
firing, promoting, demoting and any other employ-
ment decision regarding RHA employees, including 
Mr. Ragsdell. LPHF’s contract with RHA does not 
provide individuals with any employment benefits or 
personnel manuals. LPHF has no policies regulating 
or fixing the amount of sick or vacation days provided 
to any of the RHA’s employees, and nor is LPHF 
provided with any information regarding an em-
ployee’s use of sick or vacation days. Further, LPHF 
is not consulted when the RHA posts openings for 
new positions at RHA. 

 Most importantly to the analysis of a joint employ-
ment relationship, LPHF has no authority or decision-
making ability regarding the termination of any 
RHA employee, Mr. Ragsdell included. LPHF does 
not independently review any of its contractors’ per-
formances, relying on the actual employer of a con-
tractor for this function. LPHF has not retained any 
control over the terms and conditions of any of its 
contractors’ employees, including those employed by 
RHA. On this issue, Mr. Ragsdell’s case law is inap-
posite. 
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 For example, the plaintiff in Zinn v. McKune, 143 
F.3d 1353 (10th Cir. 1998) (plaintiff asserted claims 
based on Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act and 
Kansas’s common-law whistleblower retaliatory dis-
charge doctrine for being placed on disability leave 
without pay), was hired by Prison Health Services 
(“PHS”) as a correctional nurse assigned to work at a 
prison clinic operated by the Kansas Department of 
Corrections (the “Department”). Id. at 1355. A con-
tract between the Department and PHS expressly 
provided that both PHS and its employees were inde-
pendent contractors and explicitly disclaimed the ex-
istence of any agency, employment or master-servant 
relationship between PHS and the Department. Id. 
The plaintiff ’s supervisors were, however, all employ-
ees of the Department. Id. In determining whether an 
employment relationship existed between plaintiff 
and the Department, the Court looked to the factors 
discussed in Lambertson v. Utah Dept. of Corrections, 
79 F.3d 1024, 1025 (10th Cir. 1996). First and fore-
most, the court looked to what extent the Department 
had the “right to control the ‘means and manner’ of 
the worker’s performance.” In addition, the court con-
sidered: 

(1) The kind of occupation at issue, with ref-
erence to whether the work usually is done 
under the direction of a supervisor or is done 
by a specialist without supervision; (2) the 
skill required in the particular occupation; 
(3) whether the employer or the employee 
furnishes the equipment used and the place 
of work; (4) the length of time the individual 
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has worked; (5) the method of payment 
whether by time or by job; (6) the manner 
in which the work relationship is termi- 
nated; (7) whether annual leave is afforded; 
(8) whether the work is an integral part 
of the business of the employer; (9) whether 
the worker accumulates retirement benefits; 
(10) whether the employer pays social secur-
ity taxes; and (11) the intention of the par-
ties. 

Id. at 1357. The court determined that “PHS provided 
services to the Department as an independent con-
tractor, and PHS employees, merely by fulfilling 
terms of the Department-PHS service contract, did 
not thereby become Department employees. Id. Fur-
ther, the court stated that “[t]hough the Department 
retains the right to request removal of PHS personnel 
with whom it is dissatisfied, and did so in this case, 
PHS alone exercises control over the hiring and firing 
of PHS personnel.” Id. 

 Factually parallel to Zinn, the RHA provides ser-
vices to LPHF based on a contract, the Master Agree-
ment. The Master Agreement expressly memorializes 
the RHA’s and LPHF’s intent to maintain an in-
dependent contractor relationship in which LPHF 
would contract with various entities for the services it 
needed, including the RHA. An employee of the RHA 
does not become an employee of LPHF by fulfilling 
the terms of the contract entered into between the 
RHA and LPHF. LPHF had none of the requisite 
control over the means and manner of Mr. Ragsdell’s 
employment. LPHF did not decide when Mr. Ragsdell 



App. 27 

worked, how much he was compensated, what bene-
fits he received or who he reported to. The RHA paid 
Mr. Ragsdell a salary, regardless of time spent on 
LPHF projects. While RHA received some reimburse-
ment for Mr. Ragsdell’s time, this reimbursement had 
nothing to do with calculating Mr. Ragsdell’s salary or 
providing benefits. Moreover, unlike the situation 
with the putative employer in Zinn, LPHF neither re-
quested nor had the authority to request that Mr. 
Ragsdell be removed from his position. 

 LPHF simply paid RHA for the services it re-
ceived pursuant to the Master Agreement. Mr. 
Ragsdell’s argument that such payments support a 
finding of an employment relationship between LPHF 
and Mr. Ragsdell was addressed by the court in Zinn. 
The Zinn court rejected the position, the Court should 
do the same here. The Zinn court explained that “the 
Department simply pays for the services provided by 
PHS personnel as provided in the contract, and it is 
PHS’ responsibility to pay wages, salaries, and bene-
fits to PHS personnel.” Id. Here, LPHF simply paid 
for the services provided by RHA personnel per the 
Master Agreement, and it was RHA’s responsibility to 
provide Mr. Ragsdell’s wages, salaries, and benefits. 

 Furthermore, LPHF’s inability to control RHA 
employees is indicated by its Community Develop-
ment Financial Institutions (“CDFI”) certification. 
The Department of Treasury operates the Community 
Development Financial Institutions Fund (“Fund”) for 
the purpose of “promot[ing] economic revitalization 
and community development through investment in 
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and assistance to [CDFIs].” 12 CFR 1805.100. “Enti-
ties seeking [CDFI] certification shall provide the 
information set forth in the application for certifica-
tion.” 12 CFR 1805.201(a). “Certification by the Fund 
will verify that the entity meets the CDFI eligibility 
requirements.” Id. Among other things, the entity ap-
plying for CDFI certification “shall not be an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States, or any State 
or political subdivision thereof.” 12 CFR 1805.201(b)(6). 
“An entity that is created by, or that receives substan-
tial assistance from, one or more government entities 
may be a CDFI provided it is not controlled by such 
entities and maintains independent decision-making 
power over its activities.” Id. 

 In 2009, LPHF was certified as a CDFI to provide 
subordinate mortgage loans for low-income house-
holds in La Plata County, Colorado. See Awardee Pro-
files Details from http://www.cdfifund.gov, Exhibit 
126. Homes Fund was recertified and received CDFI 
funding in 2010 and 2012. Exhibits 127 and 128. Per 
the regulations, the Department of [sic] has verified, 
through the issuance of CDFI certification, that LPHF 
is not an agency or instrumentality of RHA and that 
LPHF is not controlled by RHA but maintains inde-
pendent decision making power over its own activi-
ties. If LPHF was a joint employer with the RHA, it 
would not have the required independence from 
governmental entities to obtain CDFI certification. 
Mr. Ragsdell does nothing to analyze the corollaries of 
the CDFI certification, preferring instead to sweep 
the issue aside in a footnote stating that LPHF “To 
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say the least, overstates the implications to the CDFI 
program of a ruling recognizing that it was Mr. 
Ragsdell’s employer along with RHA.” Doc. 40, p. 26, 
n. 44. Here, I wish Mr. Ragsdell had said more than 
“the least” and provided some explanation as to why 
he believes that LPHF’s independent status under 
the CDFI certification requirements does not vitiate 
his suggestion that the LPHF is his joint employer 
along with the RHA. For all of these reasons, LPHF 
was not Mr. Ragsdell’s joint employer. 

 
ii. LPHF was not Mr. Ragsdell’s employer 

under the integrated enterprise or single 
employer test. 

 As a threshold issue, I note that the parties 
dispute whether Mr. Ragsdell properly pleaded the 
integrated enterprise or single employer test such 
that he may even advance the argument at all. While 
Mr. Ragsdell asserts that LPHF has been on notice 
since Mr. Ragsdell’s CCRD filing and since his com-
plaint in this action that he considered LPHF his 
employer and that I may consider all facts developed 
through discovery, LPHF astutely points out that Mr. 
Ragsdell’s filings have referenced his employment 
theory only as one based on joint employment. The 
theory is found in a footnote on page four of the Com-
plaint and Jury Demand, Doc. 1, which is identical to 
the note found on page two of the Stipulated Schedul-
ing Order, Doc. 20. Mr. Ragsdell therein stated that: 

RHA and [LPHF] were “joint employers” with-
in in the meaning of that term as interpreted 
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by the Tenth Circuit . . . Court of Appeals. 
Bristol v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs, 312 F.3d 
1213, 1218 (10th Cir. 2002). 

Doc. 1, p. 4, n. 1; Doc. 20, p. 2, n. 1. 

 Mr. Ragsdell never requested leave to amend the 
Complaint to allow him to add new theories of em-
ployer liability against LPHF. Accordingly, because 
LPHF had no reason to anticipate the argument and 
did not conduct any discovery on the issue, it argues 
that allowing him to assert one now would be unduly 
prejudicial. I agree. Mr. Ragsdell may not unilaterally 
introduce at the summary judgment stage a new legal 
concept for which LPHF had no notice. 

 Even were I to allow the theory to be presented, 
it nonetheless fails to persuade. A plaintiff who is the 
employee of one entity may seek to hold another en-
tity liable by arguing that the two entities effectively 
constitute a single employer. Bristol, 312 F.3d at 
1218. “Courts applying the single-employer test gen-
erally weigh four factors: (1) interrelations of opera-
tion; (2) common management; (3) centralized control 
of labor relations; and (4) common ownership and 
financial control. Courts generally consider the third 
factor – centralized control of labor relations – to be 
the most important.” Id. at 1220 (citations and inter-
nal quotation marks omitted). What courts mean by 
“centralized control of labor relations” is “focused al-
most exclusively on one question: which entity made 
the final decisions regarding employment matters 
relating to the person claiming discrimination?” Id. 
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(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Ac-
cordingly, the extent to which LPHF could be said to 
have any control over Mr. Ragsdell’s hiring or firing is 
highly determinative. As discussed above, LPHF had 
no such control. 

 “Of the other factors applied by the courts under 
the single-employer test, the fourth – common owner-
ship and financial control – is clearly irrelevant to a 
case involving governmental entities” Id. As the RHA 
is a governmental entity, the fourth factor likewise 
does not weigh in Mr. Ragsdell’s favor. While there is 
some evidence of the first factor – interrelation of 
operations – the independence of LPHF from the 
RHA under the CDFI process and the Master Agree-
ment mitigate its weight. Finally, though the second 
factor – common management – may arguably be 
met through the shared director role of Ms. Lopez, 
this second factor cannot counterbalance LPHF’s 
utter lack of control over the hiring or firing of Mr. 
Ragsdell. Taken together, I conclude from a review of 
the relevant factors that Mr. Ragsdell was not em-
ployed by LPHF under an integrated enterprise or 
single employer theory. 

 
B. Mr. Ragsdell was not constructively dis-

charged. 

 Mr. Ragsdell’s Fourth Claim is for wrongful dis-
charge under the doctrine of constructive discharge. 
The claim fails. Constructive discharge requires the 
plaintiff to show an adverse employment action under 
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working conditions “so intolerable that a reasonable 
person would have felt compelled to resign.” Pa. State 
Police v. Suders, 542 U.S. 129, 147 (2004). In a con-
structive discharge claim based on disability discrim-
ination, plaintiff must show: (1) he is a person with a 
disability or is regarded as having a disability1; (2) he 
was performing satisfactory work or was qualified to 
do the job; (3) defendant subjected him to working 
conditions that a reasonable person would view as in-
tolerable because of his disability; and (4) his position 
remained open or was filled by someone that does not 
satisfy the first element. Amro v. Boeing Co., 232 F.3d 
790, 796 (10th Cir. 2000). As I assess this demonstra-
tion on summary judgment, it is not necessary that 
Mr. Ragsdell “prove” each element, but rather that he 
shows that genuine issues of material fact remain, 
and that a reasonable jury could infer from the dis-
puted facts that he is able to prove his claims. See 
Carr v. Castle, 337 F.3d 1221, 1229 n.9 (10th Cir. 
2003) (“In the summary judgment context, of course, 

 
 1 The ADA defines a “disability” as “(A) a physical or mental 
impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major 
life activities of such individual; (B) a record of such impair-
ment; or (C) being regarded as having such an impairment.” 
Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471, 478 (1999).While 
individuals with MS are not necessarily disabled under the 
ADA, see Croy v. Cobe Laboratories, Inc., 345 F.3d 1199, 1204 
(10th Cir. 2003), Mr. Ragsdell has specifically presented facts 
demonstrating that his MS limits the major life activity of 
walking. As such, he has proved this element; Defendants Lopez 
and the RHA explicitly do not contest that Mr. Ragsdell is dis-
abled under the ADA and Defendant LPHF implicitly also does 
not contest the fact. 
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[the plaintiff ’s] burden is only that of creating rea-
sonable inferences, not one of proof as such. But any 
continued repetition of that burden involves an awk-
ward locution, an awkwardness contributed to by the 
fact that so much of the case law speaks of what a 
party responding to a Rule 56 motion must ‘establish’ 
or ‘prove’ or ‘show.’ Whenever this opinion employs 
such terms, it should therefore be understood as 
denoting [the plaintiff ’s] lesser burden of creating 
reasonable inferences, not the actual burden of per-
suasion.”). “When . . . the record does not give rise to 
a reasonable inference that a constructive discharge 
has occurred, the question is appropriately resolved 
by a judge as a matter of law.” Heutzenroeder v. Mesa 
County Valley Sch. Dist. 51, 391 Fed.Appx. 688, 693 
(10th Cir. 2010). As with the text of Carr, whenever 
this memorandum might use the terms “establish, 
“prove,” or “show,” it should be understood as speak-
ing to Mr. Ragsdell’s burden of creating reasonable 
inferences, not his burden of persuasion. 

 Constructive discharge occurs only when an em-
ployer deliberately makes or permits “the employee’s 
working conditions to become so intolerable that the 
employee has no other choice but to quit.” MacKenzie 
v. City and County of Denver, 414 F.3d 1266, 1281 
(10th Cir. 2005). In determining this, “the plain- 
tiff ’s subjective views of the situation are irrelevant.” 
Emerson v. Wembley USA Inc., 433 F.Supp.2d 1200, 
1219 (D.Colo. 2006); see also MacKenzie, 414 F.3d at 
1281. To prove constructive discharge, a plaintiff must 
have sufficient facts to demonstrate the discharge 
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under “the totality of the circumstances.” Yearous v. 
Niobrara County Mem’l Hosp., 128 F.3d 1351, 1356 
(10th Cir.1997). Notably, discriminatory animus in 
and of itself is not necessarily enough to establish a 
constructive discharge claim. Fischer v. Forestwood 
Co., Inc., 525 F.3d 972, 981 (10th Cir. 2008) (citing 
Penn. State Police v. Suders, 542 U.S. 129, 147, (2004) 
(“A hostile-environment constructive discharge claim 
entails something more [than conduct that amounts 
to actionable harassment.]”); Boyer v. Cordant Tech-
nologies, Inc., 316 F.3d 1137, 1140 (10th Cir.2003) 
(“[A] finding of constructive discharge may not be 
based solely on a discriminatory act; there must also 
be aggravating factors that make staying on the job 
intolerable.”) (internal quotation marks omitted); 1-
15 Larson on Employment Discrimination § 15.08 
(2007) (“The mere existence of discrimination will not 
normally constitute the kind of intolerable conditions 
that would make a reasonable person feel compelled 
to quit.”). 

“The question is not whether working con-
ditions at the facility were difficult or un-
pleasant.” Yearous, 128 F.3d at 1357; see also 
Lee-Crespo v. Schering-Plough Del Caribe 
Inc., 354 F.3d 34, 45 (1st Cir.2003) (“It is not 
enough that a plaintiff suffered the ordinary 
slings and arrows that workers routinely en-
counter in a hard, cold world.”) (quotation 
omitted). Rather, Plaintiff must show that, at 
the time of his resignation, his employer did 
not allow him the opportunity to make a free 
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choice regarding his employment relation-
ship.” 

Exum v. U.S. Olympic Committee, 389 F.3d 1130, 
1135 (10th Cir. 2004). Antidiscrimination statutes do 
not establish a “general civility code” or make action-
able the “ordinary tribulations of the workplace.” 
Anderson v. Coors Brewing Co., 181 F.3d 1171, 1178 
(10th Cir. 1999). 

 Mr. Ragsdell argues that the totality of the 
circumstances left him with no choice but to resign. 
In support of his argument, Mr. Ragsdell asserts that 
he was subjected to increased scrutiny when Ms. 
Lopez became his direct manager. As evidence, Mr. 
Ragsdell proffers his admittedly subjective interpre-
tations of Ms. Lopez’s statements to him concerning, 
among other things, his use of leave time, acknowl-
edging, however, that at no time did Ms. Lopez yell at 
him, call him derogatory names, or deny him any 
leave. 

 Mr. Ragsdell repeatedly relies on his subjective 
perception that the instructions from his supervisor 
were harassing: “Mr. Ragsdell testified that he be-
lieved Defendant Lopez asked him to sign so that she 
could later accuse him of violating the rules.” “Mr. 
Ragsdell perceived her questions, based on her tone 
and demeanor, to be harassing . . . ”; “Mr. Ragsdell 
perceived this email as harassing.”; “Mr. Ragsdell 
perceived that it was irrational for her to persist in 
inquiring about his leave balances . . . ”; “Mr. Ragsdell 
believed it was ‘a way to put added pressure on [him] 
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that she kn[ew he] couldn’t meet.’ ” Pl’s Resp. ¶¶ 57, 
59, 61, 63 & 65. Though I view Mr. Ragsdell’s testi-
mony in the light most favorable to him, there is no 
objective evidence of “intolerable” working conditions 
stemming from Defendant Lopez’s supposed criticism 
and/or scrutiny. Mr. Ragsdell specifically admits that 
his impressions of Defendant Lopez’s tone as scruti-
nizing him are his subjective opinions, Ragsdell Dep., 
Vol. I, 143:1-4, and he specifically acknowledges 
that he was not subjected to threats of demotion, 
suspension, transfer, reassignment or reduction in 
pay. Ragsdell Dep., Vol. II, 11:18-12:19 (Mr. Ragsdell 
opining he had a general hunch that Defendant 
Lopez, by “everything she was doing,” was trying to 
get him “out,” but conceding there were never any 
direct threats of any kind). This subjective evidence 
does not pass muster. 

 Also insufficient is Mr. Ragsdell’s contention that 
the written memoranda that was slipped under his 
door on April 25, 2011, coupled with a second Red 
Flag Rules Acknowledgment sent that evening, dem-
onstrate that he either had to resign or would be 
fired. This theory is directly belied by his own ad-
mission that while he understood is [sic] employment 
to be at-will, he nevertheless believed the RHA and 
Defendant Lopez would follow its handbook proce-
dures concerning progressive discipline. Defendant 
Lopez’s testimony confirms that she was following the 
handbook procedures and believed the written mem-
oranda was only the first step in the three-party 
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disciplinary process outlined by RHA’s procedures. 
Mr. Ragsdell is in accord. 

Q: Did you have any understanding as to 
whether or not, as a general rule, the RHA 
used progressive discipline of employees? 

A: I did, yes. 

Q: What was that understanding? 

A: That – that that – this procedure was 
followed; that there was a written reprimand 
or a series of them and so forth up until the 
termination. 

*    *    * 

Q: So on April 27, 2011, you were at the 
first stage of discipline under the policies? 

A: Correct. 

Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 49:13-25; 50:1-3. Thus, Mr. 
Ragsdell cannot claim he had a good-faith belief that 
his termination was imminent. Moreover, had Mr. 
Ragsdell been serious enough about leaving his job or 
concerned enough about his job to consult the hand-
book, he would have learned that he had procedures 
available to him for reporting discrimination to the 
RHA board. Similarly, Mr. Ragsdell could have but 
did not file a grievance with the EEOC or CCRD prior 
to his departure. 

 Mr. Ragsdell further admits that his decision to 
resign was not set in stone when he arrived at work 
on April 27th, 2011. The evidence shows that Mr. 



App. 38 

Ragsdell arrived at work eager to speak with Ms. 
Lopez about her most recent missives and was “open 
for anything on the morning of the 27th.” Ragsdell 
Dep., Vol. I, 111:21-112:23. 

Q: I’m saying it’s possible. You weren’t con-
vinced that you were leaving –  

A: Correct. 

Id., 112:21-23. He became very upset, however, when 
Ms. Lopez indicated she must defer meeting with him 
until that afternoon because she was en route to a 
previously made appointment. Instead of waiting for 
Ms. Lopez to return, Mr. Ragsdell verbally resigned 
to Ms. Moore. Because Mr. Ragsdell had other vi- 
able options besides resigning (e.g. filing a grievance 
with the RHA board, the EEOC, or the CCRD or 
simply waiting for Ms. Lopez’s return to discuss with 
her what he perceived as harassing correspondence), 
he was not constructively discharged.2 Therefore, I 
GRANT summary judgment in favor of Defendants’ 
on Mr. Ragsdell’s Fourth Claim for wrongful dis-
charge under the doctrine of constructive discharge. 

 Indeed, I view Mr. Ragsdell’s failure to explore 
alternatives other than resigning a key factor in dis-
tinguishing him from the plaintiff in Strickland v. 
UPS, Inc., 555 F.3d 1224, 1226 & 29 (10th Cir. 2009). 

 
 2 For substantially the same reasons as set for in Defen-
dants’ Reply Brief at p. 34-35, nothing in Mr. Ragsdell’s discus-
sion of a hostile work environment, for which he does not state a 
separate claim, changes this conclusion. 
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In Strickland, the Tenth Circuit found that the plain-
tiff presented sufficient objective evidence that a 
reasonable jury could determine that she was con-
structively discharged by showing, inter alia, that she 
was forced to sign documents committing to certain 
sales levels that she could not attain, that she was 
required to attend out of town performance review 
meetings during times in which she could be selling, 
that she was prevented from utilizing the open door 
policy, that she was held to a higher standard than 
her co-workers by requiring her to meet 100% of her 
sales quotas, and, crucially, that she “attempted to 
improve her situation by filing an internal complaint 
and requesting a transfer.” Id. at 1229. 

 While Strickland is popular with the plaintiffs’ 
bar, the Tenth Circuit regularly upholds trial courts’ 
grants of summary judgment in situations similar to 
this case. Trujillo v. Huerfano County Bd. of County 
Comm’rs, 349 Fed.Appx. 355, 366-67 (10th Cir. 2009) 
(requirement to travel long distances and two unwar-
ranted notations in personnel file were not sufficient 
to prevent summary judgment); Keller v. Crown Cork 
& Seal USA, Inc., 491 Fed.Appx. 908, 915 (10th Cir. 
2012) (evidence demonstrating loud and heated meet-
ings with plaintiff ’s supervisors, that plaintiff was 
directed to make up time for appointments or take 
vacation, that plaintiff ’s performance was criticized 
and written up for perceived problems, that plaintiff 
was told not to attend staff meetings, that plaintiff ’s 
friend was told not to go to her work area or talk with 
her, and that plaintiff ’s friend who supported her 
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was terminated, was insufficient to prevent summary 
judgment on plaintiff ’s constructive discharge claim); 
Heutzenroeder, 391 Fed.Appx. at 690 (despite plaintiff 
being placed on administrative leave, being directed 
to turn in her school badge and keys, being directed 
to refrain from coming onto school premises except as 
a parent, and being contacted by the district’s attor-
ney to negotiate a settlement because the district was 
no longer interested in her services, plaintiff did not 
present sufficient evidence to prevent summary judg-
ment on her constructive discharge claim). 

 
i. Mr. Ragsdell’s wrongful discharge claim 

also fails against the RHA because of the 
Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.3  

 The Colorado Governmental Immunity Act (“CGIA”) 
states that sovereign immunity is a bar to any action 
against a public entity for injury which lies in tort, or 
could lie in tort, regardless of whether that is the type 
of action or the form of relief chosen by the plaintiff. 
C.R.S. § 24-10-106(1); Trinity Broad. of Denver v. City 
of Westminster, 848 P.2d 916, 923 (Colo. 1993). In 
Colorado, wrongful discharge in violation of public 
policy is a common law claim which sounds in tort. 

 
 3 I note that a motion under the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act is a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction 
rather than a motion for summary judgment. As this argument 
was not developed by Defendants until their summary judgment 
motion, however, I consider it here. 
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See Rocky Mountain Hosp. & Med. Serv. v. Mariani, 
916 P.2d 519, 521 (Colo. 1996). 

 While Mr. Ragsdell asserts that his CCRD 
Charge satisfies the CGIA notice provisions, the 
Charge fails to state within which of the eight enu-
merated exceptions his claim falls to avoid operation 
of the CGIA. Per §24-10-106, any claim which sounds 
in tort is barred against a governmental entity, unless 
it falls within eight enumerated exceptions. Although 
the exceptions to governmental immunity are to be 
broadly applied, even the most liberal reading of the 
enumerated exceptions cannot logically or legally en-
compass Mr. Ragsdell’s claim for wrongful discharge 
in violation of public policy. See Craven v. University 
of Colorado Hosp. Auth., 260 F.3d 1218, 1228-29 (10th 
Cir. 2001). 

 
C. Defendants did not violate the Rehabilita-

tion Act. 

 Mr. Ragsdell’s Second Claim is for violation of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 701, et seq.). 
The claim fails. Although I have my doubts con-
cerning Mr. Ragsdell’s ability to prevail under the 
McDonnell Douglas test for purposes of his ADA and 
Section 1983 claims, I will assume arguendo that he 
has met it for purposes of discussing the Rehabilita-
tion Act. While a plaintiff may lay the groundwork for 
a Rehabilitation Act claim under McDonnell Douglas, 
a Rehabilation [sic] Act claim contains a further 
requirement that a plaintiff must prove that he has 
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been discriminated against solely because of his 
disability. See 29 U.S.C. § 794(a) (emphasis added); 
Gates v. Rowland, 39 F.3d 1439, 1445 (9th Cir. 1994) 
(“the Act requires that the plaintiff (1) have a disabil-
ity, (2) be otherwise qualified for the job, and (3) be 
excluded due to discrimination solely by reason of his 
or her disability.”). 

 In other words, even if a discriminatory intent 
somehow influenced or was even the primary reason 
behind the various acts which are alleged to be dis-
criminatory, such a showing would not make a suc-
cessful Rehabilitation Act Claim unless the unlawful 
discrimination was the sole reason for the adverse 
employment action. Mr. Ragsdell’s own acknowledg-
ment that certain alleged discriminatory actions 
which resulted in his alleged constructive discharge, 
when “taken on their own”, Ragsdell Dep., Vol. I, 
24:7-29:25; 57:4-7, do not constitute discrimination, 
necessarily defeats his assertion that a discrimina-
tory animus was the sole reason behind the asserted 
constructive discharge. 

 
D. Mr. Ragsdell’s First and Third Claims are 

unsuitable for summary judgment as to De-
fendants Lopez and the RHA. 

 Mr. Ragsdell’s First Claim is for denial of equal 
protection under the Fourteenth Amendment per 42 
U.S.C. § 1983 and his Third Claim is for disability 
discrimination in violation of the Colorado Anti-
Discrimination Act, C.R.S. § 24-34-402(1) (“CADA”). 
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There are genuine disputes of material fact that 
preclude summary judgment on these two claims. By 
way of one (of many) examples, I am troubled by the 
conflicting testimony regarding whether Mr. Ragsdell 
received appropriate accommodation in physically 
moving paper files. He appears ultimately to have 
received assistance from Ms. Linney, but it is not at 
all clear why he was initially denied assistance by 
Ms. Lopez. 

 
VI. CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, regarding Doc. 34, I 
GRANT summary judgment in favor of Defendants 
Lopez and the RHA on Mr. Ragsdell’s Second (Re-
habilitation Act) and Fourth (wrongful discharge-
constructive discharge) claims and DENY summary 
judgment for the same on Mr. Ragsdell’s First (Equal 
Protection) and Third (CADA) claims. I GRANT 
LPHF’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Doc. 35, in 
full. Furthermore, I hold that the record is not clear 
enough to rule on Defendant Lopez’s qualified im-
munity issue. The record does not permit me to de-
termine whether she in fact did violate Mr. Ragsdell’s 
rights. Without knowing what rights she violated, I 
cannot say whether she was on notice that her acts 
would violate his rights (again, if in fact they were 
violated.) I do not address whether the constructive 
discharge claim is also barred because the CADA 
provides a statutory remedy for discrimination be-
cause such an analysis is unnecessary to this disposi-
tion. Personally, I agree with Judge Daniel that a 
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wrongful discharge claim can be brought in tandem 
with a CADA claim. Kennedy v. Colo. RS, LLC, 872 
F. Supp. 2d 1146, 1149 (D. Colo. 2012). 

DATED: March 12, 2014  BY THE COURT:

  s/John L. Kane 
  John L. Kane, U.S. Senior

 District Judge 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE TENTH CIRCUIT 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

KENNETH JASON RAGSDELL, 

  Plaintiffs-Appellee, 

v. 

REGIONAL HOUSING ALLIANCE 
OF LA PLATA COUNTY, et al., 

  Defendants-Appellants. 

No. 14-1104 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

ORDER 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

(Filed Feb. 11, 2015) 

Before TYMKOVICH, GORSUCH, and BACHARACH, 
Circuit Judges. 

 Appellee’s petition for rehearing is denied. 

 The petition for rehearing en banc was transmit-
ted to all of the judges of the court who are in regular 
active service. As no member of the panel and no 
judge in regular active service on the court requested 
that the court be polled, that petition is also denied. 

Entered for the Court 

/s/ Elisabeth A. Shumaker 
ELISABETH A. SHUMAKER, Clerk 

 


	31227 Killmer cv 02
	31227 Killmer in 02
	31227 Killmer br 02
	31227 Killmer aa 01
	31227 Killmer ab 02

